Health Consultation

Orange County Solid Waste Management Facility (Orange County Landfill)

Orlando, Orange County, Florida

WACS ID 21847

January 6, 2017



Prepared by: Florida Department of Health Division of Disease Control and Health Protection Under Cooperative Agreement with U. S. Department of Health and Human Services Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry

Table of Contents

Foreword	iii
Summary	1
Background and Statement of Issues	3
Site Description	3
Demographics	4
Land Use	4
Hydrogen Sulfide Background	4
Occurrence	4
Hydrogen Sulfide Exposure and Human Health	5
Community Health Concerns	6
Discussion	6
Environmental Data	6
Pathway Analyses	7
The Exposure Pathway	8
Completed Exposure Pathways	8
Public Health Risk	8
Identifying Contaminants of Concern	9
Public Health Implications	9
Child Health Considerations	. 12
Limitations	. 13
Conclusions	. 13
Public Health Action Plan	. 14
Report Preparation	. 15
References	. 16
Appendices	. 19
Appendix A: Tables	. 20
Appendix B: Figures	. 24
Appendix C: Photographs	. 32
Appendix D: Response to Public Comments	. 34

Foreword

The Florida Department of Health (Department) evaluates the public health risk of waste sites through a cooperative agreement with the federal Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ASTDR) in Atlanta, Georgia. The Department prepared this health consultation report using ATSDR guidelines. This report evaluates whether or not there are public health implications associated with hydrogen sulfide gas from the Orange County Landfill. The Department evaluates site-related public health issues through the following processes:

Evaluating exposure: Department scientists review available information about environmental conditions at the site. The first task is to find out how much contamination is present, where it is located, and how human exposures might occur. Orange County provided the data for this assessment.

Evaluating health effects: If the Department finds evidence that exposures to hazardous substances are occurring or might occur, its scientists next determine whether that exposure could be harmful to human health. Department scientists focus on potential health effects for the community as a whole. The Department bases its conclusions and recommendations on current scientific information.

Developing recommendations: The Department lists its conclusions regarding any potential health threats. The Department then offers recommendations for reducing or eliminating human exposure. The role of the Department in dealing with waste sites is primarily advisory. The Department's public health assessments may recommend actions for other agencies. If a health threat is actual or imminent, the Department will issue a public health advisory warning people of the danger and will work with the regulatory agencies to resolve the problem.

Soliciting community input: The evaluation process is interactive. The Department starts by soliciting and evaluating information from various government agencies, individuals, or organizations responsible for operating or cleaning up the site and those living in communities near the site. The Department shares its conclusions about the site with the groups and organizations providing the information and asks for feedback from the public.

If you have questions or comments about this report, please write:

Florida Department of Health Division of Disease Control and Health Protection 4052 Bald Cypress Way, Bin # A-08 Tallahassee, FL 32399-1720 *Or, call* (850) 245-4401 or toll-free in Florida: 1-877-798-2772

Summary

INTRODUCTION	At the Orange County Solid Waste Management Facility (Landfill), the Florida Department of Health's top priority is to ensure nearby residents have the best information to safeguard their health.
	The Orange County Landfill is at 5901 Young Pine Road, Orange County, Florida. In 2015, hydrogen sulfide odors from the landfill became strong when large amounts of construction and demolition debris began to decay. Although Orange County took steps to correct the odor problem, nearby residents were concerned about their health. For this report, the Department reviewed hydrogen sulfide levels from July 21 to October 19, 2016.
	The Department reached four conclusions.
CONCLUSION #1	The Department concludes that breathing hydrogen sulfide near the Orange County Landfill between July 21 and October 19, 2016 would not likely have caused illnesses, including headaches, throat irritation, breathing problems, weight gain, or dizziness/balance problems.
BASIS FOR DECISION #1	The highest hydrogen sulfide levels measured near the landfill were below those known to cause illness. The highest levels were between 71 and 240 parts per billion (ppb). These levels were well below those known to cause headaches and throat irritation (2,000 ppb). These levels were also unlikely to cause breathing problems, weight gain, or dizziness/balance problems.
CONCLUSION #2	The Department cannot conclude if breathing hydrogen sulfide near the Orange County Landfill between July 21 and October 19, 2016 would have caused nausea, eye irritation/infections, or an increase in allergies.
BASIS FOR DECISION #2	Associations between these symptoms and low levels of hydrogen sulfide exposure are not well-studied.
CONCLUSION #3	The Department concludes that between July 21 and October 19, 2016, residents near the Orange County Landfill have periodically been able to smell the unpleasant rotten egg odor of hydrogen sulfide from the Orange County Landfill.

BASIS FOR DECISION #3	Levels of hydrogen sulfide near the Orange County Landfill periodically exceeded the odor threshold (0.6 ppb).
CONCLUSION #4	The Department cannot assess public health impacts from hydrogen sulfide near the Orange County Landfill before July 2016.
BASIS FOR DECISION #4	Although odor complaints began in 2015, continuous air measurements for hydrogen sulfide did not begin until July 2016. Because hydrogen sulfide levels vary throughout the day and seasonally, the Department can only evaluate the potential health impacts for times with continuous measurements.
FOR MORE INFORMATION	If you have concerns about your health or the health of your children, you should contact your health care provider. You may also call the Department toll-free at 877-798-2772 and ask for information about the Orange County Landfill.

Background and Statement of Issues

The purpose of this health consultation report is to assess the public health threat from hydrogen sulfide gas from the Orange County Solid Waste Management Facility (Orange County Landfill). A community member requested this assessment.

Federal scientists set health guidelines for chemicals far below levels associated with illness. The Florida Department of Health uses these guidelines to protect the public, including sensitive populations such as children.

This assessment explores possible associations between health concerns of residents and hydrogen sulfide gas levels near the landfill. It requires the use of assumptions, judgments, and limited data. These factors contribute to uncertainty in evaluating the health threat. Assumptions and judgments in this assessment err on the side of protecting public health and may overestimate health risks.

This assessment estimates the health risk for individuals exposed to the highest measured levels of hydrogen sulfide near the Orange County Landfill. The level of hydrogen sulfide that people actually breathed may have been higher or lower. Those without exposure have no health risk from hydrogen sulfide.

The Department's role at waste sites is advisory. The Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) has regulatory authority at landfills. There are no federal or Florida regulatory standards for hydrogen sulfide in outdoor air.

Site Description

The Orange County Landfill is at 5901 Young Pine Road, Orlando, Orange County, Florida, 32829 (Figure 1). Orange County owns and operates the landfill, which is part of a 5,000-acre site [SCS Engineers/HSA Golden 2015].

In 2015, many nearby residents began to complain of a hydrogen sulfide (rotten egg) odor from the landfill. A consultant for the landfill determined that the primary cause of increased odor was the mixing of construction and demolition wastes with municipal solid waste. The landfill began this practice in 2013 within active Cells 9 and 10 (Figure 2) to improve efficiency and reduce tipping costs [SCS Engineers/HSA Golden 2015]. Construction and demolition debris contains gypsum drywall, which creates hydrogen sulfide gas when it decomposes. Organic material in municipal solid waste can increase gypsum drywall degradation and hydrogen sulfide production [EPA 2014a]. The consultant also concluded that disposal of sludge from wastewater facilities, as well as heavy rainfall, may have contributed to the production of hydrogen sulfide [SCS Engineers/HSA Golden 2015].

In February 2016, a nearby resident contacted the Department to share her concerns that the hydrogen sulfide could harm her health. Orlando TV and newspapers reported similar concerns from other residents. The Department reviewed existing hydrogen sulfide data

collected by Orange County and its consultants but found that there were not enough data to evaluate the health threat. The Department recommended the County measure hydrogen sulfide continuously (around-the-clock) for three months at three residential neighborhoods near the landfill active cell [DOH 2016]. The Department also recommended that the County monitor hydrogen sulfide during the summertime, when higher temperatures and rainfall can increase hydrogen sulfide production.

In July 2016, Orange County began around-the-clock monitoring of hydrogen sulfide every 30 minutes in three nearby neighborhoods. In late August, the County added an additional hydrogen sulfide meter in a neighborhood west-northwest of the landfill (Figure 3).

On August 31, 2016, Department staff visited the site (Photo 1) and viewed the hydrogen sulfide meter locations (Photo 2). They did not smell hydrogen sulfide at the time of the visit.

Orange County has taken steps to correct the odor problem. They separated the construction and demolition waste from the household garbage, installed additional gas collection wells, improved drainage, applied additional cover to the landfill, and neutralized odors [SCS Engineers/HSA Golden 2015].

Demographics

The Department examines demographic data to better characterize the populations near waste sites. The Department also considers factors like details on population mobility and residential history to gain insight into the duration of contaminant exposure for residents.

The American Census Bureau estimates, between 2010 and 2014, approximately 6,184 people lived within one mile of the Orange County Landfill. Forty percent were non-Hispanic white, 35 percent were Hispanic, 12 percent were African-American, 10 percent were Asian origin, and 3 percent were some other race. Twenty-five percent were less than 18 years old and 75 percent were older than 18. Twenty-eight percent of adults 25 years old or older had a high school diploma or less. Fifty-seven percent spoke only English at home, and 31 percent made less than \$50,000 a year [EPA 2014b].

Land Use

The landfill is bordered by a mix of undeveloped land, residences, and businesses.

Hydrogen Sulfide Background

Occurrence

Hydrogen sulfide is a flammable, colorless gas with a characteristic rotten egg smell.

Hydrogen sulfide gas occurs naturally in areas with low oxygen: volcanoes, sulfur springs, swamps, and stagnant water bodies. Approximately 90% of the hydrogen sulfide in the atmosphere comes from these natural sources. Manmade sources of hydrogen sulfide include landfills, municipal sewers, sewage treatment plants, swine

containment/manure-handling operations, pulp/paper operations, petroleum refineries, natural gas plants, and tanneries. Cigarette smoke and car exhaust contain low levels of hydrogen sulfide as well [ATSDR 2014].

Hydrogen sulfide is commonly found in construction and demolition debris disposal areas. In low oxygen areas, common within landfills, sulfur-reducing bacteria convert sulfate present in drywall to hydrogen sulfide gas. Sulfur-reducing bacteria are most active in the presence of moisture and organic material [EPA 2014a].

Hydrogen sulfide gas is slightly heavier than air and may accumulate in low-lying areas outside landfill boundaries. Hydrogen sulfide odor problems near landfills occur most frequently in the early morning before sunrise, when there is less wind to mix the atmosphere and disperse the gas [Xu and Townsend 2014]. Landfill hydrogen sulfide levels can be highly variable, even when measured at the same time of day and in the same location [EPA 2014a]. Hydrogen sulfide levels tend to decrease with increasing distance from the landfill.

The same landfill conditions that produce hydrogen sulfide can also produce lesser amounts of other reduced sulfur compounds such as methyl mercaptan, carbon disulfide, dimethyl sulfide, and carbonyl sulfide. Hydrogen sulfide, however, is generally the dominant reduced sulfur compound [Lee et al. 2006]. Like hydrogen sulfide, people can smell other sulfur compounds at low levels. Health scientists, however, know less about the toxicity of these other reduced sulfur compounds than hydrogen sulfide.

Hydrogen Sulfide Exposure and Human Health

Hydrogen sulfide enters your body primarily through the air you breathe. When you breathe air with hydrogen sulfide, it is absorbed into the blood stream and distributed throughout the body. The body then rapidly converts hydrogen sulfide to sulfate and excretes it in the urine.

People can smell hydrogen sulfide at levels much lower than those that cause illness. There is, however, a wide range in the reported odor threshold for hydrogen sulfide. The odor threshold for hydrogen sulfide has been reported to be as low as 0.5 parts per billion (ppb) and as high as 300 ppb [ATSDR 2014]. One study that looked only at data collected with similar methodologies estimated the odor threshold to be 0.6 ppb [Ruijten et al. 2009].

No health effects have been found in humans exposed to hydrogen sulfide at background outdoor air levels (0.1 to 0.3 ppb). Exposure to levels of hydrogen sulfide well above background outdoor levels, however, may cause irritation of the eyes, nose, or throat. It may also cause difficulty in breathing for some asthmatics [ATSDR 2014].

At extremely high levels, hydrogen sulfide is poisonous. Brief exposures to extremely high levels (greater than 500,000 ppb) can cause rapid loss of consciousness and death [ATSDR 2014]. According to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, hydrogen sulfide caused 60 worker deaths between 2001 and 2010 [BLS 2016]. Very high levels of hydrogen sulfide (above 100,000 ppb) can also cause rapid/irregular heartbeat, difficult breathing, and fluid in the lungs. Very high levels usually occur only in enclosed spaces

such as sewers, animal processing plants, sludge plants, tanks, and cesspools. For individuals who recover, most regain consciousness without any lingering health effects. A few, however, may suffer permanent or long-term headaches, poor attention span, poor memory, and poor motor function. [ATSDR 2014; NRC 2010].

Scientists have not found that hydrogen sulfide causes cancer [ATSDR 2014]. EPA has not assessed hydrogen sulfide's ability to cause cancer because scientists have not studied it thoroughly [EPA 2003].

Because the body rapidly excretes hydrogen sulfide, medical monitoring is rarely useful. Scientists can measure hydrogen sulfide and its breakdown products in blood and urine, but they must take samples very soon after exposure. Furthermore, although these tests can tell whether you have been exposed to hydrogen sulfide, they cannot determine whether harmful effects will occur. [ATSDR 2014].

Little information exists about whether the elderly are more sensitive to the effects of hydrogen sulfide. The Department discusses children's sensitivity to hydrogen sulfide in the Child Health Considerations section.

Community Health Concerns

The Department reviewed a news report about health concerns [Jacim 2016], reviewed a complaint from a nearby resident, and spoke to staff at the Florida Department of Health in Orange County. The Department also sent out a survey to nearby residents and held a community meeting on November 15, 2016. Community health concerns include:

- odor
- respiratory problems, such as coughing
- throat irritation
- headaches
- weight gain
- increase in allergies
- nausea
- dizziness
- eye infections/irritation

Discussion

Environmental Data

Starting in fall of 2015, Orange County and its consultants measured hydrogen sulfide levels near the landfill using a handheld meter one or two times per week. Levels measured in neighborhoods surrounding the landfill were low [SCS Engineers/HSA]

Golden 2015] (Orange County, unpublished data, 2016). The Department found that these discrete measurements were not adequate to assess the health risk. Because hydrogen sulfide levels change throughout the day and night, continuous (around-the-clock) monitoring is required to measure the highest levels of hydrogen sulfide.

In July 2016, Orange County installed Jerome 651 hydrogen sulfide meters in residential neighborhoods to the northeast, northwest and southwest of the landfill as recommended by the Department. They installed an additional meter in late August west of the northwest meter (Figure 3). The Jerome 651 contains a Jerome 631-X hydrogen sulfide analyzer, data storage, and a weather station.

The hydrogen sulfide meters took one 30-second air sample every 30 minutes. The Department analyzed the data starting 12 a.m. on July 21 through 11:30 p.m. on October 19, 2016 (Figures 4 to 7).

In general, hydrogen sulfide levels were highest at the meter northwest of the landfill. This meter was also the closest to the landfill.

The Department compared data to the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) acute duration Minimal Risk Level (MRL) guideline of 70 ppb (Table 1/Figures 4-7). Hydrogen sulfide levels exceeded the MRL four times: three times at the northwest meter and once at the southwest meter. All exceedances lasted less than an hour. Peak levels at the northwest meter (71 to 150 ppb) occurred at night, when the wind was calm or from the landfill. The peak level at the southwest meter (240 ppb) occurred at 2:00 p.m. when the wind was from the southeast, not from the landfill. Hydrogen sulfide levels at the southwest meter were less than the detection limit (3 ppb) several days before and after the peak of 240 ppb. Both wind direction and short duration of the 240 ppb peak at the southwest meter suggest a transient source, possibly a vehicle on nearby State Road 417.

The Department compared two-week average hydrogen sulfide levels to the ATSDR intermediate duration MRL of 20 ppb (Table 2). The highest two-week average hydrogen sulfide level of 3.9 ppb did not exceed the ATSDR intermediate duration MRL of 20 ppb (Table 2)

The detection limit of the Jerome 631-X is 3 ppb. Therefore, it is not possible to assess the exact number of measurements between the odor detection threshold (0.6 ppb) and the meter detection limit (3 ppb).

Pathway Analyses

To assess any contaminant's public health importance, the Department estimates the frequency with which people could have contact with that contaminant. The method for assessing whether people face a health risk is to determine whether a completed exposure pathway connects them to a contaminant source, and whether exposures to that contaminant source are high enough to be of health concern.

Chemical contamination in the environment cannot harm a person's health unless that person is exposed to the contaminants. If exposure does occur, then risk of harm depends on quantity (level) of contaminants the person contacts, frequency of contact, duration of contact, and the danger (toxicity) of the contaminant.

For this report, the Department only investigated the air exposure pathway.

The Exposure Pathway

An exposure pathway is a series of steps starting with the release of a contaminant in environmental media and ending at contact with the human body. A completed exposure pathway consists of five elements:

- 1. Source of contamination (in this case, Orange County Landfill);
- 2. An environmental medium such as air that can hold or move the contamination;
- 3. A point where people come into contact with a contaminated medium, such as their house;
- 4. An exposure route, such as breathing contaminated air; and
- 5. A population, such as people who live near a waste site.

Generally, the ATSDR and the Department consider three exposure categories:

- Completed exposure pathways—all five elements of a pathway are present;
- Potential exposure pathways—one or more of the elements might not be present, but information is insufficient to eliminate or exclude the element; and
- Eliminated exposure pathways—at least one element is not present and will not likely be present.

Exposure pathways evaluate specific ways in which people were, are, or might be exposed to environmental contamination in the past, present, and future.

Completed Exposure Pathways

The Department considers exposure to hydrogen sulfide gas in air near the vicinity of the Orange County Landfill to be a past, current, and future completed exposure pathway (Table 3). Although other sources may exist, the primary source of the hydrogen sulfide is the Orange County Landfill [SCS Engineers/HSA Golden 2015]. Air is the environmental medium. Nearby residents are the exposed population. The exposure route is inhalation. The points of exposure are the neighborhoods near the landfill.

Public Health Risk

The Department provides site-specific public health recommendations based on toxicological literature, levels of environmental contaminants, evaluation of potential

exposure pathways, duration of exposure, and characteristics of the exposed population. Whether a person will be harmed depends on the type/amount of contaminant, how they are exposed, how long they are exposed, and how much contaminant is absorbed. Genetics and individual lifestyles also affect the risk of illness.

Identifying Contaminants of Concern

For the analysis of contaminants of concern in air, the Department compares contaminant levels directly to air comparison values. When determining which comparison value to use, the Department follows ATSDR's general hierarchy and uses professional judgment. The Department used ATSDR MRLs for comparison values in this assessment.

The Department selects contaminants with maximum levels above comparison values for further evaluation. Comparison values, however, are not thresholds of toxicity. The Department does not use them to predict health effects or to establish clean-up levels. A level above a comparison value does not necessarily mean harm will occur. It does indicate, however, the need for further evaluation.

Because the highest levels of hydrogen sulfide measured in the air near the Orange County Landfill exceeded the ATSDR acute duration MRLs, the Department selected hydrogen sulfide as the contaminant of concern.

Public Health Implications

ATSDR MRLs are estimates of human exposure to contaminants that are likely to be without risk of adverse non-cancer health effects. The Department uses these estimates to identify contaminants and potential health effects that may be of concern at contaminated sites. MRLs are substance-specific and for a specified duration of exposure. Because MRLs incorporate safety factors, contaminant levels slightly above MRLs do not necessarily cause illness. For this health consultation, the Department looked at a range of screening guidelines depending on the duration of exposure. Below are further discussions on each MRL.

ATSDR established an acute duration (short-term) MRL screening guideline of 70 ppb for hydrogen sulfide in air. ATSDR estimates that breathing 70 ppb or less of hydrogen sulfide is unlikely to cause illness. The basis for this guideline is a study of 10 people with mild to moderate asthma who breathed air with a level of 2,000 ppb hydrogen sulfide for 30 minutes under controlled laboratory conditions. After breathing hydrogen sulfide, subjects sensed nose and throat dryness, and 3 of the 10 people complained of headaches. There was no change in lung function but changes suggestive of bronchial obstruction were observed in two individuals [Jappinen et al. 1990]. ATSDR applied a safety factor of 27 to the 2,000 ppb level in this study to ensure the MRL of 70 ppb is protective of health. ATSDR derived the safety factor of 27 based on the product of a) 3 for use of a minimal lowest observed adverse effect level (LOAEL), b) 3 for human variability, and c) 3 for database deficiencies [ATSDR 2014].

ATSDR also established an intermediate duration MRL screening guideline of 20 ppb for hydrogen sulfide in air. ATSDR estimates that breathing 20 ppb or less of hydrogen sulfide between 15 and 365 days is unlikely to cause illness. The basis for this guideline is a study of rats exposed to 10,000, 30,000, or 80,000 ppb hydrogen sulfide 6 hours/day, 7 days/week for 10 weeks. Breathing 30,000 and 80,000 ppb damages the cells in the rat's nose that enable them to smell [Brenneman et al. 2000]. ATSDR applied a safety factor of 30 to the adjusted no observed adverse effect level (NOAEL) in this study (adjusted NOAEL = 10,000 ppb x 6 hours/24 hours x 7 days/7 days = 2,500 ppb). ATSDR derived the safety factor of 30 based on the product of a) 3 for extrapolation from animals to humans with dosimetric adjustment and b) 10 for human variability. ATSDR also used a factor of 0.184 to take into account the differences in surface area of the upper respiratory tract and inhalation rates between rats and humans. This ensures the intermediate duration MRL of 20 ppb (2,500 ppb/30 x 0.184, rounded to the nearest factor of 10) is protective of health [ATSDR 2014].

Several human epidemiology studies have examined the chronic toxicity of inhaled hydrogen sulfide. Most of these studies reported increases in the occurrence of subjective symptoms of respiratory irritation in workers or residents living near paper mills. Limitations, such as poor exposure characterization (including the lack of information on peak exposure levels) and co-exposure to other chemicals, limit the use of these field studies for establishing level-response relationships. Although case reports concerning temporary eye, nose, and throat irritation in humans are abundant, exposure parameters, level, and duration are often either unreported or only estimated [ATSDR 2014]. Although this report considers the results of field studies and case reports, it relies primarily on studies of human exposure to hydrogen sulfide under controlled laboratory conditions.

The following paragraphs describe the risk of illness from hydrogen sulfide measured near the Orange County Landfill.

Odor

People living near the Orange County Landfill may have periodically smelled the unpleasant odor of hydrogen sulfide. Many times since air monitoring began on July 21, 2016, the level of hydrogen sulfide near the landfill exceeded the odor threshold of 0.6 ppb. Levels of hydrogen sulfide greater than the odor threshold occurred most often at the northwest meter closest to the landfill. Because the meter detection limit is slightly greater than the odor detection limit, some sensitive residents may have smelled hydrogen sulfide even when the meters reported a level of zero. Although unpleasant, such low levels do not cause adverse health effects.

Headaches and Throat Irritation

The highest hydrogen sulfide levels measured in communities near the Orange County Landfill were unlikely to cause headaches or throat irritation.

The highest hydrogen sulfide level measured in communities near the landfill was 240 ppb. 240 ppb is almost ten times less than the 2,000 ppb levels that causes headaches and

throat irritation [Jappinen et al. 1990]. The 240 ppb level was also limited in duration, as levels were below the meter detection limit (3 ppb) for several days before and after the peak level.

The next highest hydrogen sulfide level near the landfill was 150 ppb. This level is more than ten times less than the 2,000 ppb level found to cause headache and throat irritation [Jappinen et al 1990]. Therefore, the highest hydrogen sulfide levels measured near the landfill were not likely to cause headaches or throat irritation.

Respiratory Problems

It is unlikely that the highest levels of hydrogen sulfide measured near the Orange County Landfill caused respiratory problems.

One controlled laboratory study of 10 adults with asthma exposed to 2,000 ppb hydrogen sulfide for 30 minutes found evidence suggesting bronchial obstruction but no statistically significant changes in lung function [Jappinen et al. 1990].

Therefore, since hydrogen sulfide levels near the Orange County Landfill were far below 2,000 ppb, it is unlikely they caused respiratory problems.

Dizziness/Balance Problems

The highest levels of hydrogen sulfide measured near the Orange County Landfill (240 ppb) are not likely to cause dizziness/balance problems.

Although cases of occupational-related hydrogen sulfide poisoning [Arnold et al. 1985] have been associated with dizziness and balance problems, levels of hydrogen sulfide during such occupational exposures are much higher than those measured near the landfill. A controlled study of healthy people exposed to 50 ppb, 500 ppb and 5,000 ppb hydrogen sulfide for two hours did not find balance impaired by hydrogen sulfide exposure [Fiedler et al. 2008]. Although community (epidemiological) studies of residents living near industrial sources of hydrogen sulfide [Kilburn et al. 2010; Kilburn 2012] have suggested increases of dizziness and/or balance problems with hydrogen sulfide exposures, levels of hydrogen sulfide and the presence of other contaminant exposures are not well understood in these studies.

Weight Gain

The highest levels of hydrogen sulfide measured near the Orange County Landfill (240 ppb) are not likely to cause weight gain.

Researchers have not studied the effect of hydrogen sulfide exposure on weight changes in humans [ATSDR 2014], but they have studied such effects in animals. Several studies [Saillenfait et al. 1989; Gagnaire et al. 1986; CIIT 1983b] did not find statistically significant changes in rats' weights after exposure to hydrogen sulfide levels between 10,000 ppb to 50,000 ppb for varying periods of time. Other animal studies have found associations between hydrogen sulfide exposure and weight loss. Pregnant Sprague-Dawley rats lost weight after exposure to concentrations greater than 150,000 ppb on gestation days 6-20. Also, certain types of female rats [CIIT 1983c] and mice [CIIT 1983a] lost weight after exposure to time-weighted average levels of 80,000 ppb for 6 hours/day, 5 days/week for 90 days. Therefore, it is unlikely hydrogen sulfide caused community members to gain weight.

Nausea/Allergies

It is unclear if the highest concentrations of hydrogen sulfide measured near the Orange County Landfill (240 ppb) could cause nausea or allergies.

Nausea and vomiting have been noted in several cases of human inhalational hydrogen sulfide poisoning in occupational settings, but only at high concentrations. Significant increases in the incidence of reported nausea was found in community studies of lower level exposures of hydrogen sulfide and other reduced sulfur gases [Haahtela et al. 1992]. Exposures in these studies were not measured, however, and other reduced sulfur gases were present. The Department could not find any controlled studies of nausea and low levels of hydrogen sulfide exposure. Therefore, it is unclear whether hydrogen sulfide exposure near the Orange County Landfill caused nausea.

The Department did not find any studies examining the effect of hydrogen sulfide on existing allergies or developing allergies.

Eye Infections/Irritation

Hydrogen sulfide can cause conjunctivitis and eye irritation at high levels. Hydrogen sulfide levels of 6,000 ppb were shown to cause eye irritation in the presence of other reduced sulfur compounds [Vanhoorne et al. 1995].

In a less controlled field study of people living near a paper mill with estimated peak outdoor hydrogen sulfide concentrations of 70 ppb, residents self-reported eye irritation 12 times more often than people without exposure [Jaakkola et al. 1990]. Eye irritation in this study may have also have been due to methyl mercaptan as well as other air pollutants. The Department could not find controlled studies examining low concentrations of hydrogen sulfide and eye issues.

Therefore, although high concentrations of hydrogen sulfide cause eye infections/irritation, it is unclear if levels measured at the Orange County Landfill caused eye infections or irritation.

Child Health Considerations

In communities faced with air, water, soil, or food contamination, the many physical differences between children and adults demand special emphasis. Children could be at greater risk for certain kinds of exposure to hazardous substances. Children play outdoors and sometimes engage in hand-to-mouth behaviors that increase their exposure potential. Children are shorter; this means they breathe dust, soil, and vapors closer to the ground. A child's lower body weight and higher intake rate results in a greater dose of hazardous substance per unit of body weight. If toxic exposure levels are high enough during critical

growth stages, the developing body system of children can sustain permanent damage. Finally, children are dependent on adults for access to housing, for access to medical care, and for risk identification. Thus, adults need as much information as possible to make informed decisions regarding their children's health.

In a community setting, children are likely to be exposed to hydrogen sulfide in the same manner as adults. Very few data are available to assess if children are more sensitive to hydrogen sulfide; however, it is expected that hydrogen sulfide would have similar toxicological effects on children [ATSDR 2014]. Therefore, since levels near the Orange County Landfill were far below 2,000 ppb, the Department does not expect that hydrogen sulfide exposure would affect children differently than adults, although it is possible.

Limitations

Although the Department accurately assessed the potential public health hazards associated with the Orange County Landfill, there were limitations in the environmental data used to make this assessment. The Department based this assessment on continuous hydrogen sulfide monitoring around the landfill between July 21 and October 19, 2016. Because hydrogen sulfide levels may vary greatly throughout the day and night and spatially, sampling can only be used to verify the level of hydrogen sulfide at the sampling location at the time of the measurement. Results cannot be used to determine "worst case" or "typical" exposures, as hydrogen sulfide levels are likely to vary annually and seasonally. The Department cannot assess the potential health effects of hydrogen sulfide exposures before the monitoring period began or exposures in areas Orange County did not install hydrogen sulfide meters.

Conclusions

The Florida Department of Health reached four conclusions about the Orange County Landfill.

1. The Department concludes that breathing the highest levels of hydrogen sulfide measured near the Orange County Landfill between July 21 and October 19, 2016 were not likely to cause adverse health effects, including headaches, throat irritation, breathing problems, weight gain, and dizziness/balance problems.

2. Because of the lack of controlled studies, the Department cannot conclude if breathing the highest levels of hydrogen sulfide measured near the Orange County Landfill between July 21 and October 19, 2016 could cause eye irritation/infections, nausea, or allergies.

3. The Department concludes that since July 2016, residents near the Orange County Landfill have periodically been able to smell the unpleasant rotten egg odor of hydrogen sulfide from the Orange County Landfill. Although unpleasant, such low levels are not likely to cause illnesses. 4. A lack of data prevents the Department from determining the public health threat of hydrogen sulfide near the Orange County Landfill before July 2016.

The Department has no public health recommendations.

Public Health Action Plan

Previous actions

Between September 2015 and June 2016, Orange County Utilities held several meetings with community members about hydrogen sulfide levels and actions the County is taking to mitigate the odors.

On November 2, 2016, the Department released a draft of this health consultation report and solicited public comments. The Department also distributed fact sheets summarizing the report to approximately 1500 nearby residents.

On November 15, 2016, the Department, with the Department of Health-Orange County and Orange County Utilities, held an open house meeting to explain findings of this health consultation and to get information about residents' health concerns.

Planned actions

The Department will consider review of new data when requested.

Report Preparation

The Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR), U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) funded this report through a cooperative agreement with the Department. The findings and conclusions in these reports, however, are those of the Department and do not necessarily represent the views of ATSDR or DHHS. ATSDR did not revise or edit this document.

Author

Debby Tipton, MS, Public Health Toxicology, Bureau of Environmental Health, Division of Disease Control and Health Protection, 850-245-4250

Department Reviewers

Bureau of Environmental Health, Division of Disease Control and Health Protection:

- · Randy Merchant, MS, Public Health Toxicology
- · Andrew Reich, MS, MSPH, RRT, Public Health Toxicology Administrator
- · Kendra Goff, PhD, DABT, State Toxicologist, Bureau Chief

Carina Blackmore, DVM, PhD, State Public Health Veterinarian, Deputy State Epidemiologist, Acting Director, Division of Disease Control and Health Protection

Anna Likos, MD, MPH, State Epidemiologist, Interim Deputy Secretary for Health

References

[Arnold et al 1985] Arnold IMF, Dufresne RM, Alleyne BC. Health Implication of Occupational Exposures to Hydrogen Sulfide. J Occup Med 27(5):373-376.

[ATSDR 2014] Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Draft Toxicological Profile for Hydrogen Sulfide and Carbonyl Sulfide. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Atlanta, GA. October 2014.

[BLS 2016] United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. Injuries, Illnesses, and Fatalities. Census of Fatal Occupational Injuries. Available from: http://www.bls.gov/iif/oshcfoi1.htm. Accessed October 27, 2016.

[Brenneman et al. 2000] Brenneman KA, James RA, Gross EA. 2000. Olfactory neuron loss in adult male CD rats following acute inhalation exposure to hydrogen sulfide: Reversibility and the possible role of regional metabolism. Toxicol Pathol 30(2):200-208.

[CIIT 1983a] 90 Day vapor inhalation toxicity study of hydrogen sulfide in B6C3F1 mice. Research Triangle Park, NC: Chemical Industry Institute of Toxicology. CIIT docket #42063. Cited by: Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Draft Toxicological Profile for Hydrogen Sulfide and Carbonyl Sulfide. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Atlanta, GA. October 2014.

[CIIT 1983b] 90-Day vapor inhalation toxicity study of hydrogen sulfide in Fischer 344 rats. Research Triangle Park, NC: Chemical Industry Institute of Toxicology. CIIT docket #22063. Cited by: Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Draft Toxicological Profile for Hydrogen Sulfide and Carbonyl Sulfide. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Atlanta, GA. October 2014.

[CIIT 1983c] 90-Day vapor inhalation toxicity study of hydrogen sulfide in Sprague-Dawley rats. Research Triangle Park, NC: Chemical Industry Institute of Toxicology. CIIT docket #32063. Cited by: Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Draft Toxicological Profile for Hydrogen Sulfide and Carbonyl Sulfide. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Atlanta, GA. October 2014.

[DOH 2016] Florida Department of Health. Letter to Orange County Landfill, May 10, 2016.

[EPA 2003] U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. IRIS Toxicological Review of Hydrogen Sulfide. Washington, DC [accessed August 23, 2016]. Available from: cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/iris/iris_documents/documents/subst/0061_summary.pdf.

[EPA 2014a] U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development. Best Management Practices to Prevent and Control Hydrogen Sulfide and Reduced Sulfur Compound Emissions at Landfills That Dispose of Gypsum Drywall, EPA/600/R-14/039. 2014. [EPA 2014b] U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Environmental Justice Geographic Assessment Tool. U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey 2010 - 2014. Washington, DC [accessed August 12, 2016]. Available from: http://epamap14.epa.gov/ejmap/entry.html.

[Fiedler et al. 2008]. Fiedler N, Kipen P, Ohman-Strickland J, Zhang C, Weisel R, Laumbach K, Kelly-McNeil K., Olejeme K and Lioy P. Sensory and cognitive effects of acute exposure to hydrogen sulfide. Environ. Health. Perspect. 116(1): 78-85.

[Gagnaire et al. 1986] Gagnaire F, Simon P, Bonnet P, De Ceurriz J. The influence of simultaneous exposure to carbon disulfide and hydrogen sulfide on the peripheral nerve toxicity and metabolism of carbon disulfide in rats. Toxixol Lett. 234 (2-3): 175-83.

[Haahtela et al. 1992] Haahtela T., Martilla, O., Vilkka V. The South Karelia air pollution study: Acute health effects of malodorous sulfur air pollutants released by a pulp mill. Am J Public Health 82:603-605.

[Jacim 2016] Jacim, T. Officials attempt to stifle smell landfill in Orange County. Fox 35 Orlando. (updated February 18, 2016, viewed August 15, 2016). Available from: http://www.fox35orlando.com/home/93438733-story

[Jaakkola et al. 1990] Jaakkola, J.J., V. Vilkka, O. Marttila, P. Jappinen, and T. Haahtela. The South Karelia Air Pollution Study. The effects of malodorous sulfur compounds from pulp mills on respiratory and other symptoms. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 142(6 Pt 1):1344-1350. 1990. Cited by: Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Draft Toxicological Profile for Hydrogen Sulfide and Carbonyl Sulfide. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Atlanta, GA. October 2014.

[Jappinen, et al. 1990] Jappinen P, Vilkka V, Marttila O, Haahtela T. 1990. Exposure to hydrogen sulfide and respiratory function. British Journal of Industrial Medicine. 47:(824-828).

[Kilburn et al. 2010] Kilburn, KH, Thraser, JD, Gray, M. Low-level hydrogen sulfide and central nervous system dysfunction. Toxicology and Industrial Health, August 2010.

[Kilburn 2012] Kilburn, KH. Human impairment from living near confined animal feeding operations. J Environ Public Health. 2012.

[Lee et al. 2006] Lee S, Xu Q, Booth M, Townsend T, Chadik P, Bitton G. 2006. Reduced sulfur compounds in gas from construction and demolition debris landfills. Waste Management. 26:(526-533). [NRC 2010] National Research Council Committee on Acute Exposure Guideline Levels. Acute Exposure Guideline Levels for Selected Airborne Chemicals, Volume 9. National Academies Press, 2010.

[Orange County 2016] Orange County Landfill Hydrogen Sulfide Monitoring Data. Available online: http://www.ocfl.net/WaterGarbageRecycling/HydrogenSulfideData.aspx#.V-KifHIdy70

[Ruijten et al. 2009] Ruijten, M.W.M.M., R. vand Doorn and A.P. van Harreveld. Assessment of Odour Annoyance in Chemical Emergency Management. RIVM Report 609200001/2009. RIVM, Bithoven, The Netherlands. 2009.

[Saillenfait et al. 1989] Saillenfait AM, Bonnet P, de Ceaurrize J. Effects of inhalation on exposure to carbon disulfide and its combination with hydrogen sulfide on embryonal and fetal development in rats. Toxicol Lett 48:57-66.

[SCS Engineers/HSA Golden 2015]. Landfill Odor Source Evaluation Report. December 11, 2016.

[USGS 2016] The National Map. Orange County, FL. 28.4808 N, 81.2186 W. [viewed August 11, 2016]. Available from: http://viewer.nationalmap.gov/basic/

[Vanhoorne et al. 1995] Vanhoorne, M., A. de Rouck, and D. de Bacquer. Epidemiological study of eye irritation by hydrogen sulfide and/or carbon disulphide exposure in viscose rayon workers. Ann. Occup. Hyg. 39(3):307-315. 1995

[Xu and Townsend 2014] Xu Q and Townsend T. 2014. Factors affecting temporal H₂S emission at construction and demolition (C&D) landfills. Chemosphere. 96(2):105-111.

Appendices

Appendix A: Tables

Approximate Distance and Direction from the Landfill Active Cell	Total Number of Hydrogen Sulfide Measurements*	Average Level (ppb)**	Maximum Level (ppb)	Number of Measurements Exceeding the ATSDR Acute Duration MRL (70 ppb)
1 Mile Northwest	4214	3.1	150	3
4 Miles Northeast	4279	1.5	9	0
2 Miles Southwest	4152	1.7	240***	1
2 Miles West-Northwest	2416	1.6	24	0

Table 1. Summary of Hydrogen Sulfide Levels near the Orange County Landfill: July 21, 2016 to October 19, 2016

ATSDR = Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry MRL = Minimal Risk Level ppb = parts per billion

*Hydrogen sulfide meters took readings every 30 minutes; meter malfunctions on 8/23 and 8/24 and 9/19 to 9/22 resulted in fewer measurements at the Northwest and Southwest meters, respectively; monitoring at the West-Northwest meter began on 8/29/2016.

**The detection limit of the Jerome hydrogen sulfide meters is 3 ppb; to determine average levels, the Department assumed all reported values below 3 ppb were one-half the detection limit (1.5 ppb).

*** Wind direction and the short duration of this elevated level suggest a source other than the landfill.

Data source: [Orange County 2016]; (Orange County, unpublished data, 2016)

Shaded levels exceed the ATSDR Acute Duration MRL.

Two Week Period	Northwest Meter	Northeast Meter	Southwest Meter	West-Northwest Meter**
July 21 - August 3	3.9	1.5	1.8	ND
August 4 - August 17	3.4	1.5	1.5	ND
August 18 - August 31	3.6	1.5	1.6	ND
September 1 - September 14	1.9	1.5	1.9	1.7
September 15 - October 5	2.6	1.5	1.6	1.6
October 6 - October 19	1.8	1.5	2.1	1.6
ATSDR Intermediate Duration MRL			20	

Table 2. Two-Week Average Hydrogen Sulfide Levels (ppb)*

ATSDR = Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry MRL = Minimal Risk Level ND = no data ppb = parts per billion

* The detection limit of the hydrogen sulfide meters is 3 ppb; to determine average levels the Department assumed all reported values below 3 ppb were one-half the detection limit (1.5 ppb). **Meter installed by the County on 8/30/2016

Data source: [Orange County Landfill 2016]; (Orange County, unpublished data, 2016)

Table 3.	Complete	Human	Exposure	Pathways at the	he Orange	County	Landfill Site
----------	----------	-------	----------	-----------------	-----------	--------	---------------

	COMPLETE EXPOSURE PATHWAY ELEMENTS						
ΔΑΤΗΜΑΥΝΑΜΕ	SOUDCE	ENVIRONMENTAL	POINT OF	ROUTE OF	EXPOSED	TIME	
	SOURCE	MEDIA	EXPOSURE	EXPOSURE	POPULATION		
Uudrogen Sulfide	Orange		Neighborhoods			Past,	
in Air	County	Air	near the	Inhalation	Nearby residents	present, and	
in Air	Landfill		landfill			future	

Appendix B: Figures



Image source: [USGS 2016]





*Meters are within the orange circles.

Source: Orange County, unpublished data, 2016









Appendix C: Photographs



Photo 1. Orange County Landfill



Photo 2. Hydrogen Sulfide Meter Northeast of Landfill

Appendix D: Response to Public Comments

Response to Public Comments

On November 2, 2016, the Florida Department of Health posted a public comment version of this report on its website. On November 4, 2016, the Department mailed a community update and survey to approximately 1500 addresses near the Orange County Landfill. This update summarized the draft report and solicited public comment through December 9, 2016. On November 15, 2016, the Department held an open house public meeting at the Orange County Landfill. The Department received eight surveys and two letters with comments.

During the public comment period, residents expressed health concerns including breathing problems, weight gain, eye infections and irritation, increases in allergies, nausea, headaches, dizziness/balance problems and memory problems. The Department addresses these health concerns in the Public Health Implications section of this report.

One respondent suggested they believed that there is a link between their family's depression and weight gain and inability to exercise outside as a result of hydrogen sulfide odors. Hydrogen sulfide gas has an extremely unpleasant smell, which can make it unpleasant to exercise outside. Some symptoms, such as weight gain and depression, can have many causes, but can be exacerbated by not exercising or going outdoors.

Glossary

Acute

Occurring over a short time [compare with chronic].

Acute exposure

Contact with a substance that occurs once or for only a short time (up to 14 days) [compare with **intermediate duration exposure** and **chronic exposure**].

Adverse health effect

A change in body function or cell structure that might lead to disease or health problems.

Cancer

Any one of a group of diseases that occurs when cells in the body become abnormal and grow or multiply out of control.

Chronic

Occurring over a long time (more than 1 year) [compare with acute].

Chronic exposure

Contact with a substance that occurs over a long time (more than 1 year) [compare with **acute exposure** and **intermediate duration exposure**].

Completed exposure pathway [see exposure pathway].

Concentration

The amount of a substance present in a certain amount of soil, water, air, food, blood, hair, urine, breath, or any other media.

Contaminant

A substance that is either present in an environment where it does not belong or is present at levels that might cause harmful (adverse) health effects.

Detection limit

The lowest concentration of a chemical that can reliably be distinguished from a zero concentration.

Environmental media

Soil, water, air, biota (plants and animals), or any other parts of the environment that can contain contaminants.

Environmental media and transport mechanism

Environmental media include water, air, soil, and **biota** (plants and animals). Transport mechanisms move contaminants from the source to points where human exposure can occur. The **environmental media and transport mechanism** is the second part of an **exposure pathway**.

EPA

United States Environmental Protection Agency.

Exposure

Contact with a substance by swallowing, breathing, or touching the skin or eyes. Exposure may be short-term [**acute exposure**], of intermediate duration, or long-term [**chronic exposure**].

Exposure pathway

The route a substance takes from its source (where it began) to its end point (where it ends), and how people can come into contact with (or get exposed to) it. An exposure pathway has five parts: a **source of contamination** (such as an abandoned business); an **environmental media and transport mechanism** (such as movement through groundwater); a **point of exposure** (such as a private well); a **route of exposure** (eating, drinking, breathing, or touching), and a **receptor population** (people potentially or actually exposed). When all five parts are present, the exposure pathway is termed a **completed exposure pathway**.

Hazardous waste

Potentially harmful substances that have been released or discarded into the environment.

Health consultation

A review of available information or collection of new data to respond to a specific health question or request for information about a potential environmental hazard. Health consultations are focused on a specific exposure issue. Health consultations are therefore more limited than a public health assessment, which reviews the exposure potential of each pathway and chemical.

Inhalation

The act of breathing. A hazardous substance can enter the body this way [see **route of exposure**].

Intermediate duration exposure

Contact with a substance that occurs for more than 14 days and less than a year [compare with **acute exposure** and **chronic exposure**].

Lowest-observed-adverse-effect level (LOAEL)

The lowest tested dose of a substance that has been reported to cause harmful (adverse) health effects in people or animals.

Minimal risk level (MRL)

An ATSDR estimate of daily human exposure to a hazardous substance at or below which that substance is unlikely to pose a measurable risk of harmful (adverse), noncancerous effects. MRLs are calculated for a route of exposure (inhalation or oral) over a specified time period (acute, intermediate, or chronic). MRLs should not be used as predictors of harmful (adverse) health effects [see **reference dose**].

No-observed-adverse-effect level (NOAEL)

The highest tested dose of a substance that has been reported to have no harmful (adverse) health effects on people or animals.

Point of exposure

The place where someone can come into contact with a substance present in the environment [see **exposure pathway**].

Population

A group or number of people living within a specified area or sharing similar characteristics (such as occupation or age).

ppb Parts per billion.

ppm Parts per million.

Public health action

A list of steps to protect public health.

Public meeting

A public forum with community members for communication about a site.

Receptor population

People who could come into contact with hazardous substances [see exposure pathway].

Risk

The probability that something will cause injury or harm.

Route of exposure

The way people come into contact with a hazardous substance. Three routes of exposure are breathing [**inhalation**], eating or drinking [**ingestion**], or contact with the skin [**dermal contact**].

Safety factor [see uncertainty factor]

Special populations

People who might be more sensitive or susceptible to exposure to hazardous substances because of factors such as age, occupation, sex, or behaviors (for example, cigarette smoking). Children, pregnant women, and older people are often considered special populations.

Substance

A chemical.

Toxicology

The study of the harmful effects of substances on humans or animals.

Tumor

An abnormal mass of tissue that results from excessive cell division that is uncontrolled and progressive. Tumors perform no useful body function. Tumors can be either benign (not cancer) or malignant (cancer).

Uncertainty factor

Mathematical adjustments for reasons of safety when knowledge is incomplete. For example, factors used in the calculation of doses that are not harmful (adverse) to people. These factors are applied to the lowest-observed-adverse-effect-level (LOAEL) or the no-observed-adverse-effect-level (NOAEL) to derive a minimal risk level (MRL). Uncertainty factors are used to account for variations in people's sensitivity, for differences between animals and humans, and for differences between a LOAEL and a NOAEL. Scientists use uncertainty factors when they have some, but not all, the information from animal or human studies to decide whether an exposure will cause harm to people [also sometimes called a **safety factor**].